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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

                                                         CASE NO.: 

 

 

KEVIN R. TVENSTRUP, a single man 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION  

PRATT & WHITNEY GROUP, a Connecticut  

corporation, 

 

  Defendant. 

__________________________________________/ 

 

 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, KEVIN R. TVENSTRUP, a single man, sues Defendant, UNITED 

TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION Pratt & Whitney Group, a Connecticut corporation, for 

damages as prayed for specifically below. 

JURISDICTION and VENUE 

1. This action is filed in this District Court pursuant to 42 USC 2210(n)(2) and 42 

USC 2014(h)(h), claiming personal injuries (a glioblastoma brain tumor) caused by exposure to a 

nuclear incident. The Court has pendant jurisdiction over the exposure claims that do not stem 

from a nuclear incident, as well as over the conspiracy claim. 

2. KEVIN R. TVENSTRUP (hereinafter “KEVIN”) resides together with his parents 

in Palm Beach County, Florida.   

3. Since 2000, KEVIN’s parents owned property on 91st Place North in the Acreage, 

an unincorporated community in Palm Beach County, Florida. The family, including KEVIN, 

had resided there for over a decade when KEVIN was diagnosed with a malignant brain tumor.  

4. KEVIN was diagnosed with a GRADE III anaplastic oligodendroglioma in the 

left frontal region of his brain in August of 2015.  He had just turned 24 years old.  

Case 9:16-cv-80361-WJZ   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/10/2016   Page 1 of 37



 2 

5. Defendant, UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION Pratt & Whitney 

Group, is a Connecticut corporation that possesses, maintains, and runs an engineering facility in 

northwest Palm Beach County adjacent to the Corbett Wildlife Management Area (“Corbett”). 

6. KEVIN’S cancer is the result of exposure to radioactive and other carcinogenic 

materials, including heavy metals and volatiles, including but not limited to benzopyrene and 

perchlorates, present in the Acreage at the time that he resided in the Acreage.   

BRAIN TUMOR OF KEVIN R. TVENSTRUP AND OTHER ACREAGE RESIDENTS 

Kevin Tvenstrup’s Diagnosis 

7. KEVIN’s tumor diagnosis followed months of erratic behavior and two weeks of 

headaches, dizziness, nausea, vomiting, weight loss and blurry vision, not improving with 

medication and not associated to any trauma.   

8. KEVIN subsequently had an MRI that revealed a 6 x 5 x 4.2 cm hemorrhagic 

mass in the left frontal lobe with significant surrounding vasogenic edema and sub falcine 

herniation.  

9. On August 21, 2015 KEVIN had a left frontal stereotactic craniotomy for 

resection of the tumor with titanium cranioplasty and obliteration of the left frontal sinus, 

packing with local temporalis muscle, vascularized pericranial flap covering the left frontal 

sinus.  

10. The pathology taken on the date of the surgery confirmed the mass to be an 

analastic oligodendroglioma, WHO grade III, in the left frontal lobe of the brain. He proceeded 

with consultations with oncologists for the next course of treatment.    

11. This is a terminal disease.  

12. He continues to be treated today with radiation and chemotherapy.    
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The Acreage Brain Tumor Cluster 

13. Attention to the accumulation of brain tumors in the Acreage began with data 

self-reported by current and former Acreage residents, ranging from 2005 to 2012, indicating 

brain, head, and CNS tumors increasingly above expected rates:   

a. In early 2009, several current and former Acreage residents began reporting 

their diagnoses of brain and head tumors to acreagecancerstudy.com—a site 

run by residents who had noted that their children were being diagnosed with 

rare glioma brain tumors and seemed to be part of a cluster of gliomas, 

meningiomas, and brain cysts.  

b. The DOH’s follow on reports showed that by the end of 2007, diagnoses of 

such tumors in the Acreage had reached nearly twice the rate such tumors 

were diagnosed in Palm Beach County and the State of Florida—that is, 

nearly twice “background.” And the Acreage rate was at least several times 

background by the end of 2012.  

14. Initially spurred to act, the Florida Department of Health (DOH) investigated and 

declared a pediatric brain tumor cluster in 2009 based primarily upon pediatric diagnoses 

between 2004-2007 in geographic areas designated as the M1 basin and M2 basin (sub basins 

within the L8 basin, which begins at PBC Campus and drains through to Corbett and then to M1 

and M2).  The report noted that overall, brain cancer rates in the Acreage were steadily rising so 

that by 2005-2007, the rate was 1.9 times background for the entire population and several times 

elevated for pediatric brain tumors. 

15. Following the DOH declaration, additional data expanded the known size and 

scope of the pediatric brain tumor cluster: 

a. The original cluster included one child diagnosed in 2004 and four children 

diagnosed from 2005.   

b. Another four children were diagnosed with glial brain cancers in 2008—

diagnoses that were confirmed during the investigation.  One of these 

children, Garrett Dunsford, had been living at his home since an infant and 

was less than 100 yards from an adult who died of a glioblastoma a few years 

earlier. 
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c.  A 2009 diagnosis was confirmed amidst the investigation, but her home was 

not studied.  She lives on the same street and only six houses away from a 

2005 case.  

d. As time progressed, tumors continued to be diagnosed in adults living in the 

upper M1 basin at an increased incidence; and by 2008, the tumors also 

started appearing in the lower M1 basin in people who had lived there for well 

over ten years if not over decades. 

e.  The most recent pediatric diagnosis still residing in the Acreage upon 

diagnosis, Cynthia Santiago, lives in the lower M1 basin. All around her (in 

distances ranging from 350 yards to 1.7 miles), one person has been diagnosed 

every year with a malignant brain tumor from 2008 through 2012.  This is the 

portion of the cluster below 60th Street.   

f. Kevin is a member of the cluster located above 60th St.; he lives due south of 

Defendant’s operations. In 2011, a young boy, Brock Smith, who was living 

on 93rd Road North, moved from the Acreage only to be diagnosed with a 

glioblastoma shortly after moving.  He and Kevin resided a mere 500 yards 

due north from the 2008 pediatric brain cancer diagnosis that had been 

residing on Hamlin Boulevard.  Reportedly another male child living within 

1000 yards west of Brock’s 93nd Road address, another teenager, was 

diagnosed with brain cancer.  In 2015, twenty-four year old plaintiff, Kevin 

Tvenstrup, was diagnosed with a glioblastoma (an oligodendroglial tumor) 

while living only 270 yards due south from that 2012 diagnosis. All of these 

homes surround Banyan Boulevard and are within two miles due North of the 

2005 pediatric diagnosis - Jessica Newfield.  All of these homes are six miles 

due south of Defendant’s Palm Beach County Campus, separated only by the 

Corbett Wildlife Management Area.  At the Tvenstrup home, fission products 

and exceedingly rare metals are present in the plumbing structures, window 

silt, and soils at well over background levels.   

Case 9:16-cv-80361-WJZ   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/10/2016   Page 4 of 37



 5 

16. The DOH provided the following erroneous update information on diagnoses 

occurring since 2009 in an April 2014 email to the Palm Beach County Commissioners (who 

were inquiring on behalf of a large developer): “brain cancers” diagnosed in the Acreage from 

2008 through 2011 totaled twenty-one (21) cases of which seven were malignant brain tumors, 

and the remaining sixteen (16) were ostensibly borderline or benign brain tumors.  It noted that 

none of the twenty-one (21) were either benign or malignant tumors of the central nervous 

system (CNS) and that all of these rates were normal. This is false for the following reasons: 

a. The DOH concluded the rate of 21 brain tumors was average by comparing 

the 21 brain tumors to the expected number of all brain and CNS tumors but 

there were no CNS tumors.   There was no comparison to expected brain 

tumors or to the amount expected for malignant brain tumors or brain cancers. 

b. Even if the number of malignant brain tumors (brain cancers) really were as 

low as seven (7) malignant brain tumors, that number of cancers would be 

well above average.   For example, in the three year period of 2004-2007, the 

expected number was 4.8 malignant brain and CNS cancers in the population 

of the entire area under review, marking the second three-year-time-period 

where the Acreage brain cancer rate was above average. 

c. Subsequently gathered information confirms that the seven (7) brain tumor 

number is inaccurate. There were five children diagnosed with malignant 

brain tumors in 2008-2009 alone and three of the adults who had publically 

announced their 2008-2011 brain tumor diagnoses have since died of these 

malignant cancers: Andrew Lott (a 2011 diagnosis of glioblastoma now 

deceased); Eric Patrie (a 2011 diagnosis of anaplastic astrocytoma now 

deceased), Debora Craig (a 2010 diagnosis of astrocytoma, now deceased). 

These eight alone push the three year time period of 2008-2010 to once again 

be more than 1.5 times expected incidence numbers. 

17. Since the April 2014 email to the Palm Beach County Commissioners, the DOH 

has not acted on resident inquiries and significant additional contamination data provided to it: 

a. When the families asked DOH to explain how its 2014 numbers made sense, 

the DOH epidemiologist in Tallahassee emailed the director of Palm Beach 
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County Health Department stating she would provide an answer by October 1, 

2014.  DOH has still not provided any answer.  

b. In 2014, at the same time that the DOH reported the number of brain tumors 

to the County Commissioners, the DOH was informed of the ongoing 

detections of radionuclides in the plumbing infrastructure and back-flush areas 

where the systems flushed water, including industrial radionuclides such as 

iridium-192. The DOH and its internal Bureau of Radiation Protection and 

Control failed to respond to this information even though the official policy of 

the Bureau is that it must respond with an investigation to every report of 

discovering radioactive materials. In this instance, the only response from 

DOH has been through a lawyer who asked the families to no longer contact 

DOH bureau directors directly.  

18. All of these individuals resided in homes on well water at the time the cluster was 

declared and have since continued to obtain their water from on-site wells.  

The Tvenstrup Property’s Proximity to Case Homes 

19. The TVENSTRUPS, like most Acreage residents, rely on the aquifer underneath 

their home for water—this is a well water community. 

20. While he was residing in the contaminated area, KEVIN was exposed to 

contaminants that were present then and are still found in the Acreage today. 

21. There has already been some testing at this property as of today and testing at 

several other case homes, homes of related plaintiffs, and throughout the L8 basin. 

22. Results of earlier testing very near the TVENSTRUP property have revealed 

significant contamination.  

CONTAMINANTS, CAUSATION, AND THE STATE’S FLAWED ASSESSMENTS 

Specific Contaminants in the Acreage Case Homes 

23. Testing in the Acreage where brain tumor victims resided revealed the following 

contaminants   

a. Numerous non-naturally occurring radioactive contaminants in the backflush 

soil including americium-241, beryllium-7, cadmium-109, cesium-137, tin-
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126, and vanadium-48, plutonium-239, all uranium and all thorium nuclides.  

(“Backflush soil” samples come from the area of each victim’s yard where 

their residential water filtration system deposits the water used to flush the 

system’s filters).   

b. At several of these homes where radionuclides remain present at above 

background levels, significant numbers of copper, lead and chromium are also 

present.  Copper, chromium, lithium and niobium are all particularly high at 

the Tvenstrup home in soils, roof dirt, and indoor dust.  

c. In particular, Americium-241 is over one hundred times background in the 

plumbing scale within Kevin’s home.  The scale on windows facing due north, 

Kevin’s bedroom window, contains uranium that is indicative of modest 

contamination by enriched uranium nuclear fuel. The isotopic ratios indicate a 

46% degree of enrichment because the presence of uranium-235 is above 45% 

of the total uranium number. 

d. In dust samples removed from bathroom and utility vents, both radioactive 

and non-radioactive particles such as vanadium, zirconium, and other rare 

earth metals in pure particle form, materials that do not normally exist in 

residential dust. 

e. Perchlorate has been detected in the backflush soil at the home of one adult 

who died of his brain tumor; that home is two miles due north of the former 

Royal Palm Beach well field, which was sourced by the Village of Royal 

Palm Beach until 2005 when it switched to County water.  The home used to 

be owned by a UTC engineer.   

f. According to a Palm Beach County water quality report for the “water quality 

year” 2005, published in 2006, Royal Palm Beach’s treated water included 

perchlorate in the year 2003 before the Village elected to sell its water market 

and provision rights to the County, the County declined the option to purchase 

the well field.  
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g. At several of the Acreage pediatric brain tumor cluster homes tested by the 

DOH, benzopyrene in the backflush soils at levels above residential clean-up 

target levels—at one home ten times that level.  

24. The DOH also found cesium-137, a fission product, in the soil of every case home 

that it studied but one. In several homes, it found it in several locations. At DeCarlo’s home, it 

was found in all five of the five samples analyzed.  Although the DOH expert admitted he never 

reviewed the data to see trends at the case homes, the DOH and DEP issued a report stating the 

levels were not above the background.  The backgrounds were vacant lots proximate to the case 

homes.  The levels found at the case homes coupled with the fact that Cesium-137 was present in 

the majority of samples taken from case homes is above Florida background. 

25. Samples collected from the homes of several of the related brain tumor victims 

also showed an increased presence of other radionuclides, such as thorium-230, and lead-214 or 

lead-210. While those radionuclides may arise from either a man-made process or by natural 

occurrence, the specific circumstances in which they were found here suggest non-natural 

production: (i) these products are present in the same samples that include fission products that 

are not naturally occurring, and (ii) these products are subject to decay however the proportion of 

the decay products in relationship to one another represents a state of disequilibrium. 

Contaminants at Defendant’s Palm Beach County (PBC) Campus 

26. The rare contaminants listed in paragraphs 23 through 25 above are uniquely 

associated with the sort of business engaged in by Defendant at its Palm Beach County (PBC) 

Campus, created by improving what was previously vacant land in 1955. From then to today, 

Defendant is the only industry within the L8 basin to use or to have reason to use the 

constellation of various contaminants found in the L8 basin.   

27. Benzopyrene has been present on the UTC PBC Campus and subject to water 

egress for decades prior to the Acreage cancer cluster and probably for decades prior to the mid 

1980’s, when the first real development in the Acreage began. And despite reported remediation, 

the PBC Campus today still has levels of benzopyrene well in excess, hundreds of times in 

excess, of industrial and residential clean up levels. 

28. Contaminated soil and water at the UTC PBC Campus moved into the Acreage 

either by water from the PBC Campus traveling into the L8 basin or by a dumping operation 
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including the use of PBC Campus soil as fill for road and residential development in the 

Acreage. Remediation at the PBC Campus began after Acreage development started.  

29. Results of soil samples already taken at the UTC PBC Campus link the Acreage 

contamination to Defendant’s property: 

a. The samples include the same constellation of radioactive materials identified 

in the Acreage: cadmium-109, cesium-137, lead-210, lead-214, radium 

226/228, and uranium 234-236. 

b. Soil samples have been assessed using gamma and alpha spectroscopy, which 

determines the identity and measures the quantity of gamma- or alpha-

emitting radionuclides from the energy spectra of the sample. The 

spectrographs produced from the samples confirm the presence of the 

radionuclides stated above and several additional non-naturally occurring 

materials, including but not limited to americium-243, americium-241 

beryllium-7, neptunium-239, ruthenium-103 and 106, and tin-126.   

30. In one survey of related Plaintiffs’ case homes in August 2013, the laboratory that 

performed the analysis reported that iridium-192 was detected in the canal that runs along-side 

the Cotromano home as well as in the water and soil samples taken at other Acreage homes that 

day. 

31. The Defendant’s test results for that same sampling event referred to in paragraph 

29 above reported that iridium-192 was also detected at the UTC PBC Campus. Defendant used 

iridium-192 sources at test stands and in the scrapyard to check underground and above ground 

metal structure  

Contaminants found on the Powerline Road  

32. There is a navigable road that connects the western edge of the UTC campus, near 

a point indicated by its reports filed to with the Department of Environmental Protection as 

SWMU 39, Laser Range, to the northern area of the Acreage known as Powerline road, which is 

a fortified gravel road runs underneath the power lines through Corbett Wildlife Management 

area. The road was reportedly used by trucks removing soil from UTC at night. 

Case 9:16-cv-80361-WJZ   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/10/2016   Page 9 of 37



 10 

33. Contaminants on this road and at points along the Corbett side of the Corbett-

UTC fence line include levels of Plutonium-239 as well as Cesium-137 at well above 

background. 

34. At the UTC fence-line in Corbett, plutonium-239 was present at a significant 

level.  

35. A rock was sampled from the location due west of the Pratt Whitney. 

36. The sample was split into a rock-like aggregate material that appeared 

anthropogenic, a coarse fraction, and a fine fraction. 

37. The aggregate contains imbedded particles of iron, phosphorous, and most 

numerously, silver.  This is not particularly typical of "rocks" available in the area or even mined 

aggregates and is instead typical of an industrial product, rather than a natural mineral. 

38. The fine fraction of the same power line sample had many examples of particles 

that contained the radionuclides thorium and uranium.  Other suspect radionuclides found in the 

fine fractions include percent levels of cesium and thulium. 

39. Thulium is an extremely rare material and its principal industrial use includes 

major laser operations.  

General Causation 

40. The Acreage exhibits the following two linked, non-naturally-occurring 

phenomena:  

a. First, while brain tumors do occur independent of identifiable toxic exposure, 

they do not occur spontaneously and without an exposure-based explanation at 

either the rate or within the geo-proximity that has occurred in the Acreage 

from at least 2004 through 2015.  

b. Second, while radioactive materials exist in soil, water, and even in food 

products naturally; nature does not produce the type, manner, or amount of 

radionuclides present in the back flush and sediments of water systems used 

by the people living in the Acreage who not only have those rare tumors but 

rely on that shared aquifer. 
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41. The causal chain linking those two non-naturally-occurring phenomena is 

recognized by medical providers, public health professionals, and heath physicists around the 

world—the primary environmental contaminant associated with an increased risk of brain tumors 

is ionizing radiation:  

a. External doses of radiation to the scalp of no greater than 1.5 Gy in 

total have resulted in an increased risk of schwannoma and meningioma of 

over ten fold. The increased risk for glial tumors, the type diagnosed in 

Acreage children, and many adults such as KEVIN, is over threefold.  

b. The risk appreciation for the development of a glial brain tumor 

following a dose of radiation to the scalp is in fact nearly the same as the 

increased risk that the DOH Acreage Cancer Review found occurred in 

Acreage children.  

42. The Acreage lies south/southeast of Defendant—which has worked on 

projects using “source” and “by-product” nuclear materials as defined in 42 USC § 2014 (z) and 

(e), respectively (Price-Anderson defines the nuclear materials it regulates as either source, 

byproduct, or special source material), as well as several of these rare earth metals.  

43. In addition to being a community afflicted with a significant increase of 

brain tumors and a significant presence of radioactive material, the homes of several Acreage 

brain tumor victims include dust or soil deposits of the same metals used by and often required to 

have been remediated by Defendant in the past. Several of those metals—cadmium, lead, and 

mercury—can pass the blood–brain barrier and are also associated with brain tumors. And, 

recent studies have detected cadmium and mercury in brain tumor tissue.  

44. Defendant has attempted to remediate several sites at its property for these 

same materials found in the Acreage; they have been present in various combinations at 47 sites 

subject to corrective action in the past.  

45. Defendant is the lone local industry (i) to have had its engineers who 

worked with its materials to experience a disproportionate number of brain tumors, (ii) to have 

been required to unearth thorium, an act that showed its willingness to violate, had its own 

protocol and its license to use radiation materials by discarding it in the water table, a clean-up 

that would ordinarily require state agency independent sampling but did not here because it was 
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UTC, (iii) to have disposed of thorium that included a greater exposure dose rate than it was 

licensed to have, (iv) to be subject to an extensive regulatory clean-up under the Resource 

Conservation Recovery Act (RCRA) so extensive that it was subject to listing on the superfund 

list twice, (v) to own one of the 24 sites that have been investigated under the Formerly Utilized 

Sites Remedial Action Program (FUSRAP).  [FUSRAP was initiated in 1974 to identify, 

investigate and clean up or control sites throughout the United States that became contaminated 

as a result of the Nation's early atomic energy program during the 1940s, 1950s and 1960s.]; and 

(vi) to have a corporate history of sending cadmium-109 and thorium to scrap burial sites.  

46. It is improbable that KEVIN’S diagnosis was sporadic and isolated when 

he developed the tumor as he was living in an area where so many other brain tumors (tumors 

associated with the same risks) were being diagnosed at such a significantly increased level and 

the shared environment includes an aquifer and soil base contaminated with the same heavy 

metals, radioactive materials, and other carcinogens such as perchlorate and benzopyrene that 

increase that risk. 

47. KEVIN is one of the victims of the exposure to the materials found 

throughout the Acreage, and his tumor has caused considerable loss to himself and to his family, 

including but not limited to financial loss, as well as an emotional and physical toll. He is 

currently undergoing intense treatment.  Should he be fortunate enough to go into remission, he 

faces the risk of recurrence as well as the risk that the treatment for his tumor, which is radiation, 

may cause another brain tumor.  

Defects in the Florida Department of Health’s Assessments 

48. The DOH’s August 2009 “Acreage Cancer Review” discussed above at 

paragraph 14, later termed a “Phase I’ study, confirmed a significant increase in pediatric brain 

tumors.  Despite the fact that the report noted that the rate of brain tumor diagnosis was 

escalating every three year period, it ignored the community’s concern that adults were 

diagnosed at an alarming rate in 2008-refusing to even study those numbers until the 2014 email 

discussed above. 
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49. Following the pediatric brain tumor cluster, the DOH then performed a 

study purporting to seek the cause of the pediatric glioma cluster that was fatally flawed in many 

respects. Unsurprisingly, the DOH failed to find a cause because of those flaws. Those fatal 

defects included (i) despite noting the “primary known environmental risk factor” associated 

with brain tumors to be ionizing radiation, DOH insufficiently inspected for gamma-emitting 

materials, for which Defendant would be the most-likely source and then never reviewed the 

limited data it gathered; (ii) not following fundamental requirements for a “case-control” 

study;(iii) limiting the time period of contaminant sampling to one round of testing a seasonally-

changing aquifer and excluding the locations in the Acreage and at test homes most likely to 

show over time contamination; and (iv) ignoring Defendant as a potential source of contaminants 

on the unconsidered rationale that it is over five miles away.  

50. Foreshadowing the inherent limitations of the approach the DOH would 

take, prior to beginning that study, the Director of the Palm Beach County Health Department 

announced that it was unlikely that the cause would ever be found as such cancer clusters were 

“often” designated without anyone ever finding a cause.  Brain cancer clusters are not “often” 

designated.    

 

State’s failure to conduct an actual case-control study 

51. A case–control study investigates the effect of a certain exposure concern 

by comparing a population exposed to the concern to a population that is not exposed to the 

concern. For example, in a medical “trial,” the “controls” include the people who did not receive 

the drug and the “cases” include the people who did. Such a “trial” study, where the exposure to 

a drug is meant to be “tried” or assessed, is a prototype of case–control analysis.  
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52. For the environmental portion of the case control study, the DOH 

compared the water and soil at the case homes with the water and soil at the homes the DEP 

selected as controls, homes that were adjacent to the cases (their neighbors).  It concluded that 

the area was generally safe and that there was no causal agent found because it falsely stated that 

“there was no significant difference between the cases and controls.”  This was a false and 

misleading for three reasons: 

a. It never compared the gamma spectroscopy results to determine if there was a 

difference between the cases and the controls. 

b. The purported control homes were in the same zone of risk as the case homes 

and the controls—one DEP official questioned whether the controls were 

geographically proximate but that crucial question was ignored throughout the 

rest of the study. 

c. The “background” used to determine if the Acreage homes had differing soil 

characterstics from Florida were in fact also taken from the Acreage and often 

times within five lots of the case homes.  The only places where multiple 

cesium-137 detections were made were at case homes and in a few instances, 

the control neighbor. 

These are fatal flaws.  When radionuclides or other materials cause an increased incidence of 

cancer within the geographic area contaminated, not every resident gets cancer. Thus, a study 

cannot investigate all reasonably possible causes of the increase by using the homes of residents 

within the same contaminated area as control homes, regardless of who happened not to have 

gotten cancer.   Nor can such a study use neighborhood vacant lots for background. For example, 

as a result of exposure to ionizing radiation in Nagasaki Japan, the elevated brain tumor 

incidence (which is attributable to ionizing radiation) among survivors was only 1.8, a risk 

smaller than those in in the Acreage.   Another example: everyone who smokes does not get 

cancer—a couple can share cartons of cigarettes for decades and they both will not get the same 

cancer. Yet the DOH study assumed that if a shared resource was uniform between a brain tumor 

victim resident and their healthy neighbor, the shared resource was not the cause.  Essentially, 

the DOH’s flawed logic could have compared the water between the bathroom of one sibling 

who had cancer and one who did not and conclude, well it’s not the water.   
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53. It is hard to believe this flaw was accidental as the study was a two-tiered 

study that also used a questionnaire developed to determine if there were shared socio-economic 

or non-environmental exposure sources (such as home hobbies) factors present among the cases 

(the families of children with brain tumors) that were not present amongst controls (families of 

children in the Acreage that did not have brain tumors).  In this tier, the DOH actually used 

proper controls because whether they shared the same environment with the controls, the 

environment was not being challenged in that contrast.  Yet, for that case-control assessment, 

(the one that wasn’t attempting to compare environmental factors), the DOH actually used 

controls that while they lived in the Acreage, the homes were not neighbors.  In other words, 

there was a decision to use neighbors for controls in the environmental testing only—a decision 

that implies that the DEP controls were designed to be uniform with the cases and would not 

even ferret out a within Acreage comparison that could indicate zones of contamination 

surrounding cases.  

54. In fact, at least one DEP employee asked if the controls were proximate to 

the case homes showing elevated levels of benzo(a)pyrene, but that legitimate concern was 

ignored as was the fact that the “backgrounds” were proximate vacant lots.  At some level, the 

DEP and DOH had to have understood it was only comparing the Acreage to the Acreage.  

 

State’s failure to test for gamma-emitting radionuclides  

beyond a single round of soil sampling and inattention to other found contaminants 

55. Despite the fact that the “primary known environmental risk factor” 

associated with brain tumors etymology is ionizing radiation, neither the DOH nor the Florida 

Department of Environment Protection (DEP) ever tested the residential water aquifer for 

gamma-emitting radioactive materials. (“Ionizing radiation” has sufficient energy to displace 

electrons from atoms or molecules it encounters, thus producing ions. Passing through human 

tissue, it can alter cell structure or genetic material within cells, changing cell behavior and 

leading to tumors.) 

56. Radioactive materials can emit either alpha, beta, or gamma radiation. 

Gamma radiation is the most dangerous. 
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57. The DEP and DOH tested the water subject to recharge by canals at the 

case and control homes only one time. Surveying over 59 private wells just after declaring the 

cluster in 2009, they noted an elevated level of gross alpha radiation at several homes—an 

indication that more specific testing for gamma and beta radionuclides should be done. But they 

never attempted to learn what had been in the water in the past by testing the filters within the 

residences’ water filtration systems, the back-flush soil, or any other media such as the sediment 

that exists in common household plumbing fixtures including conveyance pipes and toilet 

reserve tanks.  

58. A fact sheet later released by DOH incorrectly stated that “After testing 

the groundwater and soil for gamma radiation levels in the Acreage Study area, the investigation 

affirmed that the community is safe for residents and visitors.” That fact sheet is flawed as 

follows: 

a. In fact, the groundwater at the case homes and their neighbor “controls” was 

not ever tested by any state agency for gamma-emitting radionuclides.  The 

soil was tested for gamma products, but no one compared the cases to the 

controls, nor looked at the tumors, nor have data on a case-by-case basis. 

b. The lone gamma radiation spectroscopy done on groundwater within the 

Acreage has been performed by the various parties in this lawsuit, and the 

results of that testing have been completely ignored by the state agency 

because it determined that if it was not aware of the source it couldn’t possibly 

exist. 

c. The only gamma testing that DOH performed was on soil in a one-time survey 

of soil at all pediatric case homes and the neighbor controls except for 

Santiago – testing it completely ignored later. 

d. There is no record that the results were ever reviewed, verified or explained 

by any DOH official except a cursory review by an official who admits he 

never looked to the cases or compared the cases to controls. 
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59. Certain other carcinogenic materials, including benzopyrene and arsenic, 

also were found, in levels that exceeded the DEP’s soil clean-up target levels (SCTLs), in a 

number of the soil samples collected at the case homes. SCTCs are set by the DEP as target 

levels to be achieved for clean-up following a known release of contaminants.  

60. While residents were advised that these levels exceeded clean-up 

standards, neither department could offer guidance as to how to clean-up the materials because 

they had not endeavored to find the source. Nor were Acreage residents ever educated about the 

gamma results or told about the Cesium-137 at the case homes. 

State’s too-narrow limits on the timeframe and location of testing in the Acreage 

61. The DOH never tested the surface water canals that surround each home 

and recharge the surficial aquifer in the L8 basin, which charges the Acreage surficial aquifer. 

62. The DOH’s one-time testing of the water and soil at Acreage case homes 

revealed some heavy metals but neither department ever did any testing to determine where those 

metals came from so there was no way for them to rule out whether those low levels in fact 

exceeded regulatory levels at times prior to August 2009 (when the victims would have been 

exposed) and no way for them to determine if the levels would again increase. 

63. The DOH never tested the home of the latest pediatric victim, Santiago, 

whose orange-sized tumor was no more than one year old when it was diagnosed and duly 

reported to DOH in 2009 during the investigation. This is tragic as the 2010 and 2011 diagnoses 

leading to deaths were victims who all lived near Santiago.  The failure to test the environment 

of a recent diagnosis is particularly damaging when, as the DOH health physicists recognize, 

several of the more dangerous gamma emitting nuclides decay quickly, which is the reason they 

ignored the plaintiff’s most recent test results – a fact they failed to consider when designing 

their own protocol. 

State’s deliberate decision to ignore Defendant and its 

contamination history as cause of Acreage pollution and cluster 

64. The DOH dismissed the potential that the Defendant’s operations had any 

impact on the Acreage on the illogical rationale that the PBC Campus is over five miles away, 

despite the DOH’s knowledge that glioma tumors have been associated and researched in jet 
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engine manufacturing for decades and its knowledge that contamination at the campus could 

reach the Acreage: 

a. The DEP listed some of the materials subject to remediation by Defendant, 

but stated geographic distance precluded any direct connection between the 

Defendant’s remediation of its campus and the Acreage.  

b. The DEP statement never addressed how long contamination had been at the 

PBC Campus site before being partially remediated, never acknowledged any 

remediation of radioactive materials on-site, and never entertained the 

possibility that the contamination could have traveled to the Acreage in the 

decades it was completely unabated and before any monitoring began. 

c. The Corbett Wildlife Management Area (“Corbett”) spans five (5) miles 

between the Acreage and the PBC Campus main canal; the area is a large 

swamp-based wilderness area that drains to the L8 basin water structures 

including the Acreage Indian Trails Improvement District (ITID) 

impoundment and the Acreage canal structures. 

d. Defendant’s contamination was unabated for decades, during which time the 

materials were subject to water flow with nowhere to go but the undeveloped, 

previously undrained, and submerged area of the LB basin later developed as 

the Acreage.   

e. Within weeks of beginning the investigation, a DEP official emailed DOH 

stating that it did not appear UTC was a likely cause and yet there is no 

assessment of any sort supporting that conclusion.  At that same time, the 

DOH hired a new Chief of Staff, Robert Siedlecki, who had worked for 

UTC’s counsel (the Gunster firm) in the past and before that worked with a 

Hartford Connecticut firm on technology transactional work.  During the 

investigation he had at least two conversations with UTC counsel about the 

investigation, including calling UTC counsel to let them know the 

investigation was over and that DOH had not found anything.   
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f. Neither agency ever considered the possibility that contamination from UTC 

was ever moved off site from UTC to the Acreage despite the fact that there 

was knowledge that UTC had neglected barrels in Corbett Wildlife 

Management area before.  

65. The DOH knew that one of the contaminants lingering in the PBC Campus 

water table since the mid 1960’s was buried thoriated nickel (TD nickel), which was not subject 

to clean up efforts until 1986 and was never subject to agency assessment. 

a. The contaminated soil was in the process of being removed before the two-

day site visit attended by a DOH trainee and his supervisor.  In fact, UTC 

began removing the material over the holidays, well before a DOH training 

health physicist appeared on scene to monitor the clean-up on January 12.  

b. Defendant’s own internal safety memoranda, filed with the DOH Bureau of 

Radiation Protection and Control in 1964, expressly stated that the TD nickel 

Pratt & Whitney used was a two-percent (2%) thorium-inclusive nickel alloy 

and would be disposed of by a licensed facility only.  

c. When the material was “discovered” in 1986 and reported by Defendant to the 

DOH, the DOH immediately recognized that Defendant had violated the 

existing regulatory framework and needed to remove the soil; but in undue 

accommodation to Defendant, it inquired of the NRC whether the material 

could remain on-site or truly required abatement—a pretense purposed to keep 

the DOH from having to be the “bad guy” when it comes to local, prominent 

industry.  

d. Despite Defendant’s serious violations of the regulations on proper disposal, 

regulations it had previously acknowledged, and the fact that DOH ostensibly 

believed UTC was unaware of how to handle that material, DOH never 

performed its own independent site investigation, its own sampling analysis, 

or even issued a citation-all steps usually included in the DOH protocol at the 

time. Even if the DOH thought UTC was merely ignorant of how to handle its 

spec-manufactured nuclear material, it had no basis to assume if should not 
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investigate the site of an ignorant nuclear source material licensee.  Instead, it 

relied solely on the investigation report performed solely by UTC’s contractor 

in clearing the investigation and never performed its own sampling or labs.  

e. The DOH incorrectly assumed the only nuclear material remediated at the site 

was the 2% TD nickel alloy Defendant was licensed to have even though the 

only individual isotope checked in the waste is Tl-208, the last unstable 

isotope in the thorium-232 decay chain. While the only thorium the PBC 

Campus was ever licensed to have indeed was TD nickel containing 2% 

thorium by weight, waste manifests from later years, reflect that thorium in a 

more concentrated form than 2% TC nickel was in fact on site. Again in 

violation of standard DOH protocol, those disposals of the more concentrated 

materials were not monitored by DOH.  

f. In fact, UTC had known about the “radioactive material” buried in the 

scrapyard for decades and fraudulently removed the designation of 

“radioactive materials” from drafted engineering plans of the area when it sent 

the plans for the adjacent landfill to the County in the mid-1970’s. 

g. At the time of the 2010 DOH investigation of the cancer cluster, DOH not 

only knew about the TD nickel issue but also knew that Defendant had 

attempted to remediate “releases” of heavy metals and volatile organic 

pollutants at forty-seven (47) sites on its campus. 

h. Most of these “releases” occurred decades before they were discovered and 

decades prior to any permits to store the materials on site.  

66. Moreover, the potential that Defendant caused the presence of the 

benzopyrene or any of the radioactive contamination revealed by DOH’s limited investigation of 

the case homes was ignored, on the dubious distance rationale, despite several additional 

concerns about Defendant:   

a. Contemporaneous financial statements for United Technologies stated that the 

company has identified over 700 sites throughout the world for which it may 

have had some liability for damages caused by environmental contamination. 
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Of those, it had resolved fewer than half, and the PBC Campus is not one of 

those sites for which Defendant has resolved liability. 

b. In addition to failing to mention the radioactive materials clean-up or the 

duration of time any of the contamination had remained on site, the DOH fact 

sheet fails to note that the investigation and clean-up performed by Defendant 

has been the subject of criticism by groups including those whose reviews 

were sought out by the DEP when reviewing Defendant’s proffered risk 

assessments including the University of Florida’s Center for Environmental 

and Human Toxicology as well as the United States Department of The 

Interior’s Geological Survey (USGS). 

c. The Florida DOH was keenly aware of the fact that Defendant was studying 

various materials it worked with at its Connecticut plant to see if they caused 

any increase in brain tumors in its own workforce. In 2007, the DOH assisted 

a University of Pittsburgh study attempting to ascertain which Defendant 

employees who had moved to Florida had brain tumors and provide them with 

family members to contact. In fact, the DOH first contacted all UTC 

employees who had brain tumors and then told the family members of 

employees who had never worked in Connecticut that they would not be 

included in the study.  

d. The Chief of Staff, Robert Siedlecki - who testified that the investigation was 

of personal significance to himself because he knew people personally 

affected and that no stone was to be unturned – remembers speaking only to 

two individuals in addition to DOH members about the Acreage investigation 

which was unfolding, Michelle Damone and UTC counsel.   

e. Michelle Damone is the former President of the Indian Trails Improvement 

District, the local level governmental entity for the unincorporated area of the 

Acreage. ITID manages the many surface water canals and impoundments 

that recharge the Acreage home water wells, impoundments & canals directly 

influenced by any UTC run-off into the Corbett Wildlife Management Area. 
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Damone, in a very public campaign to relieve the perception of a cancer 

cluster’s existence in the Acreage, created the Acreage Community Focus 

Group which was staffed by various members from the community. Originally 

it was to be termed the Governor’s Task Force but in order to side-step 

sunshine requirements, her contacts at the governor’s office told her to make it 

a community focus group; and this group replaced the victim’s families as 

community-agency liaisons.  

f. Damone’s lone contact at the DOH was Robert Siedlecki, friend and former 

Gunster counsel. Siedlecki was allegedly told that Damone “hand-picked” a 

former Pratt Whitney employee, Andrew Narcus, to be on the group and to 

draft a mission statement prior to the group’s first meeting, where he was duly 

elected the Chair. Despite the repeated discussions concerning PW, and 

Narcus’ own records noting PW should be investigated, Narcus never 

announced his prior employment at any meeting.    

g. Narcus testified that while he was never asked by UTC to influence the 

investigation, he admitted that the failure to disclose his prior employment 

created a reasonable concern that he had been compromised, or perhaps even 

taken some sort of payment – which he testified did not happen but would be 

a reasonable interpretation.  

h. In fact, Narcus’ first e-mail to Damone about the “Governor’s Task Force” 

came the day after UTD was sued by the Acreage homeowners and the day 

after he, Narcus, clipped the newspaper article and preserved it.    

i. In that same month, UTC attorney (representing it in the aforementioned 

litigation) called the DOH Chief of Staff and spoke to him about the 

investigation. He was promised status updates and was called by Siedlecki 

personally to report “it was all over and nothing was found”.  

j. From January 2010 to present day, none of the Acreage families have been 

permitted to speak with the DOH personnel or to contact them without 

counsel present.    
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k. The DOH staff have been told that they cannot speak about the investigation 

except to or through counsel.  

l. The Director of the DOH at the time, Lisa Conti, who has a Masters in Public 

Health but whose background is entirely related to veterinary medicine, 

directed the investigation by first contacting the DOH Bureau of Radiation 

Care & Control Chief, John Williamson, and directing him to explain to the 

Acreage families why the elevated gamma readings in their water filters was 

due entirely to naturally occurring material, even though the DOH did not 

ever see the testing that concerned the residents or had any testing performed 

to see if it was indeed naturally occurring.    

67. Other than citing to the fact that DEP has monitored the clean-up of the 

site performed by Defendant and noting the distance of the site from the community, there was 

no other attempt by the DOH to allay concerns about the site. And the DOH and DEP continued 

to ignore the possibility that the cluster and the company were directly connected to each other 

even when they announced that they failed to find any other cause for the cluster even though it 

was the DOH personnel that first raised the concern. The lone explanation for this is undue 

influence by UTC itself. Since the end of the study, UTC reversed a twenty-year cycle of 

downsizing in PCB to announce increasing presence and job opportunities. Since the end of the 

investigation, UTC has announced plans to new jobs and millions of dollars in economic benefit 

to PBC by reinvigorating its industrial presence and by creating a new industry in Palm Beach 

Gardens.  

The Acreage Exposure Mechanisms 

68. The aquifer underneath the Acreage moves southeast away from the 

western edge of the UTC PBC Campus and into the Acreage. 

69. At least five concurrent theories explain how Defendant’s contaminants 

could have moved to the Acreage  

a. via surface and ground water flow from the PBC Campus through Corbett into 

the Acreage surface water, which recharges the surficial aquifer; 
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b. via the 2003 draw-down of the ITID impoundment (which collected runoff for 

Corbett) to the L8 reservoir, which was then directed to the Acreage; 

c. via a trucking operation that removed contaminated materials from Defendant 

via the road that traveled underneath the power lines into Corbett to various 

Acreage lots where they were dumped on land, sprayed over roads, and 

washed into the surface water; 

d. via water and air movement from the PBC Campus burn pits to the various 

intermediate water structures described in a and b above;  

e. via the use of soils removed from the site that were used as fill product despite 

a lack of remediation for materials such as heavy metals and radionuclides—

an omission resulting directly from UTC’s failure to disclose the possibility of 

that contamination to officials.   

70. In fact, there is little to no distinction between the surface and ground water in the 

L8 Basin which includes both the Acreage and the Defendant’s business operations.  The fact 

that tumors seem to appear in temporal and geo-proximate cluster suggests that these cyclical 

flood events influence exposure.  

71. For example, significant flood events or recharge events include the following: 

a. In December 2001, no less than 650 million gallons of water were drawn 

down from the ITID impoundment into the L8 canal for the purposes of filling 

the Palm Beach Aggregates rock pits to create the L8 reservoir; 

b. Beginning in 2003, portions of the L8 basin were recharged by discharges 

from that reservoir; 

c. In August and September 2002, the L8 Basin received an accumulation of 

over 25 inches of rain; 

d. In November 2003, the L8 Basin received an accumulation of over 9 inches of 

rain, an unseasonal deluge for which the surface water canals structures were 

unprepared, resulting in flooding in the Acreage and significant recharge of 

the aquifer. These flood waters emanate from Corbett; 
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e. In September 2004, the L8 Basin received an accumulation of over 20 inches 

of rain, an unseasonal deluge for which the surface water canals structures 

were unprepared, resulting in flooding in the Acreage and significant recharge 

of the aquifer. These flood waters emanate from Corbett; 

f. In October 2005, the L8 Basin received an accumulation of over 10 inches of 

rain, an unseasonal deluge for which the surface water canals structures were 

unprepared, resulting in flooding in the Acreage and significant recharge of 

the aquifer. These flood waters emanate from Corbett; 

g. In May 2007, portions of the L8 basin were recharged from releases of the L8 

reservoir; 

h. On August 27, 2012, parts of the Acreage received over 15 inches of rain in 

Storm Isaac and several of the low-lying pockets in the Acreage were subject 

to lingering flood for several days.  

ADDITIONAL COMPONENTS OF DEFENDANT’S LIABILITY 

Defendant’s Operations 

72. Defendant has used the previously referenced radionuclides; metals including 

lead, cadmium, and barium as well as semi-volatiles; and oil-based fuels that generate 

benzopyrene contamination in its operations at the PBC Campus.  Its testing operations cause 

emissions of perchlorate to water and air. 

73. Because of the nature and location of its property, Defendant’s practices in 

handling those materials provided the mechanisms of Acreage contamination: 

a. The PBC Campus has numerous canals and swamps adjacent to Corbett 

wetlands, which were the headwaters of the wetlands upon which the Acreage 

was developed; 

b. The wetlands in and around the PBC Campus drain into the Acreage surface 

waters at varying rates each year but particularly during extremely heavy rains 

such as have been documented to occur at least once every decade from the 

time Defendant began working with these materials (circa 1958); 
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c. Defendant’s disposal practices included burn pits, which transmit 

contaminants though wind and water, and burial, both conduits for 

contamination of the water table and potential source for the later transfer of 

contaminated soil. 

74. Defendant used either the specific radionuclides or the parent radionuclide of 

every naturally occurring radionuclide found in the Acreage in its operations at the PBC 

Campus.  

75. In the course of its activities, Defendant has used radioactive by-product materials 

and source materials at its PBC Campus, as follows: 

a. The licensed use of americium-241/strontium-90, cadmium-109, cesium-137, 

cobalt-56, cobalt-57, cobalt-60, gadolinium, hydrogen-3, iridium-192, 

krypton-85, lead-210, manganese-54/cobalt-58, nickel-63, promethium-147, 

strontium-90, radium D&E, rhodium-106, and thallium-204; 

b. Source material including the licensed and unlicensed use of thorium dioxide 

as 2% of thorium-inclusive nickel alloy;  

c. Source materials including the non-licensed use of thorium-dioxide and other 

species of concentrated thorium; 

d. Source materials including the non-licensed use of uranium dioxide and other 

species of enriched uranium and depleted uranium; 

e. Unlicensed use of plutonium. 

76. Nuclear materials were provided for Defendant’s use at the PBC Campus either  

a. via the United States government either by entrustment for a particular project 

or via the deed and sale of formerly utilized sites such as the Naval Weapons 

Reserve Area, also known as the former Air Force Plant 74; or 

b. internally by subdivisions of Defendant. 

77. While some of the present-day nuclear contamination in and around the UTC 

PBC Campus is not explained by UTC’s Florida licenses, as most of those permits allowed the 
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possession and use of only “sealed sources” and none allowed on-site burial, UTC also had 

access to nuclear materials for programs exempt from AEC licensure:   

a. Such exempt projects had little to no restrictions on transfer and included (i) 

any project for use of nuclear material on a government site or transfer 

therefrom and (ii) contracts to work on nuclear material to be used in 

government owned vehicles or vessels. 

b. One of UTC’s exempt-site projects was Suntan, a liquid hydrogen project 

housed at Air Force Plant 74 located on UTC’s PBC Campus which saw 

explosives caused by liquid hydrogen and flourene, as well as other 

accompanying materials.  

c. The government vehicle or vessel exemption applied to the formerly-

classified Fox Project, incorporating Pratt and Whitney’s Aircraft Nuclear 

Propulsion work, including the Nuclear JT-11 Turbojet Power-Plant Project 

that designed a nuclear power plant containing a lithium-cooled solid-fuel-

element type reactor coupled to six modified Pratt & Whitney Aircraft J-58 

Mod. 1A turbojet engines.    

d. Those two projects, designed to use exempt nuclear fuels, were reportedly the 

two projects for which the isolated location of the Palm Beach Campus (the 

Florida Research Development Center) was first intended.   

78. Furthermore, UTC has demonstrated that it did not comply with the Florida 

licenses that it did have when it buried materials in its scrapyard even though its own internal 

memoranda, submitted with its permit application, stated it would not.  Regulations clearly never 

allowed for Defendant, a manufacturer, to bury such materials.   

79. Limited testing at the UTC PBC Campus has already revealed significant 

contamination that is the likely source of Acreage contamination: 

a. Limited testing of even the remediated areas revealed several industrial by-

product and source contaminants such as cesium-137 as well as several 

instances of unsupported and non-uniform lead, uranium, and thorium 

radioisotopes. (An “unsupported” radioisotope is a decay product present in 

the absence of its parent radioisotope, some of which would also still be 
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present if the unsupported radioisotope were the product of natural decay as 

opposed to industrial sources.); 

b. Testing also revealed several hazardous materials including most notably the 

markedly-continued presence of benzopyrene. Like the radionuclides, the 

materials are present at higher magnitudes at Defendant than at the case 

homes; 

c. In soils sampled in the adjacent Corbett area, levels of plutonium-239 as high 

as 0.4 picocuries/gram (pCi/g) were detected—levels well above established 

background levels; 

d. The background rate for plutonium-239 is generally 0.04 pCi/g and no higher 

than 0.08 pCi/g.  

80. Defendant’s employees have worked on projects designed to use or to test mixed 

fuels including uranium compounds at the UTC PBC Campus in furtherance of both Defendant 

(and Defendant subdivision) proprietary projects and government contract projects. 

81. Defendant has used the above-referenced radionuclides in its operations at test 

stands located on the western edge of the UTC PBC Campus, a portion of the campus where the 

groundwater runs southeast at a velocity and trajectory that would carry and has carried 

contamination into the Acreage community during the time KEVIN has lived in the Acreage. 

Defendant’s Actions to Avoid Open and Complete Remediation 

82. Based on contaminant reporting in the 1980s, the UTC PBC Campus merited 

designation as, and was at various times slated to be, an EPA Superfund site, which would have 

entailed “a record of decision” and clean-up plan that was authored by, executed by, and 

performed by EPA. A Record of Decision (ROD) is a public document that explains which 

cleanup alternatives will be used to clean up a Superfund site. The ROD for sites listed on the 

NPL (NPL Site Listing Process) is created from information generated during an EPA-conducted 

Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (RI/FS).  

83. Instead, Defendant exercised influence through the state agency, the DER, to 

avoid the sort of government investigation that should have accompanied the preparation of an 
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agency-authored record of decision and instead all clean-up of the property was performed under 

RCRA, which the state agency, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), had 

just been authorized to monitor: 

a. In order to avoid exposure for the full extent of its clean-up liability and to 

avoid the disclosure of its use of several hazardous and radioactive products, 

Defendant exercised influence on the DER through then DER employee Rick 

Reis to have the clean-up, and more importantly investigation, performed by 

Defendant with limited EPA oversight; 

b. While still working for the DER and coordinating the second of Defendant’s 

consent agreements, Rick Reis received a memo from the U.S. Air Force 

requesting that he provide the Air Force an Enforcement Log so that it could 

be aware of the actions of its contractor. Reis informed the Air Force that the 

regulatory agency lacked the manpower to provide such a log. Defendant then 

sent Reis a memorandum advising that Defendant lacked the manpower to 

ensure compliance with the consent orders he had negotiated on behalf of the 

agency.  Within weeks, Reis stopped working for the agency and began work 

with Defendant, leaving what he admits was a considerable knowledge gap 

behind him. 

84. Shortly after securing its ability to maintain control over the site, Defendant first 

reported the presence of some nuclear material on site to DOH and to DEP. 

Reckless Disregard and Intentional Acts 

85. Rather than dispose of source and by-product material responsibly, Defendant has 

a. buried that material in unlined shallow burial pits together with other 

hazardous materials, many of those burial sites flooding prior to clean-up and 

contaminating the L8 surface and ground water that accumulated and 

continuing to leach into the Acreage surficial aquifer in times of heavy 

persistent rains; 
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b. burned that material in unlined shallow burn pits together with other 

hazardous materials, many of those burn pits flooding prior to clean-up and 

contaminating the L8 surface and ground water that accumulated and 

continuing to leach into the Acreage surficial aquifer during heavy persistent 

rains; 

c. repeatedly failed to maintain and dispose of that material in the manner 

required by federal and state regulations, thus mishandling the source material 

it was licensed to use and, thus, violated regulations designed to limit public 

exposure; 

d. since possessing that material, failed to use and maintain them safely, emitting 

them into the surface and ground waters in Corbett and into the Acreage by 

routine misuse, dumping and neglect. 

86. A significant and disproportionate number of the employees at the facility, 

including those who worked with the buried material, have died of brain tumors. 

87. Defendant impeded research aimed at determining the cause of a disproportionate 

cancer rate for its PBC Campus employees found in an initial independent study: 

a. Circa 1980, Defendant hired the University of Miami to perform an incidence 

study, which demonstrated that the amount of employees who died of certain 

types of cancer (brain, skin, and testicular cancers and certain leukemias) who 

worked at the PBC Campus, significantly exceeded expected proportions;  

b. While these types of cancers are associated with exposure to radiation, 

Defendant held back radiation-related data in the information it then provided 

the researchers of the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health 

(NIOSH) who were performing a follow-on study. Defendant informed the 

NIOSH researchers of exposures only related to non-radioactive materials, 

improperly limiting the data the researchers would use to assess correlations 

between the cancers and workplace exposures.  
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c. Reportedly, the five engineers who died of brain tumors during the period 

assessed by the University of Miami each worked with the previously-

mentioned thoriated-nickel at their desks but never worked in the assembly 

and manufacturing areas, the lone exposure places studied by NIOSH. 

Further, the material described by the engineer who witnessed its use at desks 

was in “vein” form, not the sheet metal form used in manufacturing. 

d. The NIOSH study, which followed the Miami study and includes many of the 

same sorts of flaws in the DOH follow-on study, determined that the rate of 

these cancer deaths was not significantly elevated. Most significantly, the 

NIOSH study failed to look at radiation and used flawed controls.   

Nuclear Incident 

88. The releases caused by the Defendant’s mishandling of radioactive materials 

violated the applicable standard of care set forth in the regulations found at 10 C.F.R. § 20.1301–

2 because they included unlicensed materials used in an unlicensed operation, a per se violation 

of the entire regulatory regime, constituting a “nuclear incident.” 

89. Those releases violated the applicable standard of care set forth in the regulations 

in 10 C.F.R. § 20.1302 because they resulted from the improper storage, use, and disposal of 

such material.  

90. Those releases violated the applicable standard of care established by 10 C.F.R. § 

20.1301 because they resulted in doses exceeding limits for members of the public prescribed by 

those regulations. 

91. Emissions of licensed materials included violations of the standard set forth at 10 

C.F.R. § 20.1301, dose limits for individual members of the public, because the dose received by 

the brain tumor victims within the cluster described above exceeded those regulations as a result 

of exposure to these materials.  

92. The doses exceeded regulation because they were ingested through the water and 

were absorbed dermally through direct contact with the water. 
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93. Upon information and belief the doses set forth by 10 CFR § 20.1301 were 

exceeded as follows: 

a. The dose equivalent to individual members of the public from the licensed 

operation exceeded 0.1 rem, that is, 1 millisievert (mSv), in a year because the 

materials escape any sediment filters customarily used by the families residing 

in the Acreage, causing an accumulation of such material in the piping of the 

residential water supply, causing an ambient dose exceeding 0.1 rem per year; 

and 

b. Upon certain flood events as described above, the dose exceeded .002 rem in 

an hour; and,  

c. Any appreciable dose exceeded the regulations because Defendant did not 

have a permit to release the radioactive materials into the air, into its on-site 

sewer system, into its deep injection well, and into the waters of the L8 basin. 

94. Those emissions which occurred or continued to accrue in measurable dose after 

December 3, 1991, included violations of both 10 C.F.R. § 20.1301 and 20.1302 because 

Defendant failed to perform any surveys as required in § 20.1301(a) or to measure or reduce the 

rate as required in § 20.1302(b) or (c).  

95. Those emissions which occurred after December 3, 1991, also included violations 

of the “As Low as is Reasonably Achievable” (ALARA) standard set forth in the “Offsite Dose 

Calculation Manual” published by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, because the Defendant 

failed to make any reasonable attempts to keep such doses from occurring for several years while 

the contaminants were leaching into the L8 surface and ground water. 

Negligence and Chapter 376 

96. To the extent the release of radionuclides into the water by disposal or by 

dumping does not constitute a “nuclear incident” under the federal Price-Anderson Act, the 

release violated Chapter 376 of Florida Statutes and the Defendant is liable for damages 

thereunder.  
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97. Regarding hazardous materials and metals only, Defendant, since the mid-1980s, 

has been subject to certain requirements pursuant to its RCRA licenses as defined above and has 

failed to meet its obligations because it delayed clean-up, failed to conduct reasonable risk 

assessments, and failed to post notice in the library located within the Acreage as required. 

98. The discovery of Defendant’s responsibility for contamination of the Acreage has 

been hindered by intentional, negligent, inconsistent and inaccurate reporting to the state 

regulatory agencies by Defendant. 

COUNT I: PRICE-ANDERSON CLAIM 

 Plaintiff re-alleges those facts and matters set forth in the allegations above as stated in 

all paragraphs excepting 96-98 and states as follows: 

99. Defendant owed a duty of care to the surrounding neighborhoods and to its 

inhabitants including the Plaintiff to exercise caution and to be licensed to use any source or by-

product materials. 

100. Defendant breached those duties as described above by acts including but not 

limited to the unpermitted use of, burial of, burning of, dumping of, and disposal of source and 

by product material. 

101. At times, Defendant has acknowledged a portion of the damages caused by its 

neglect but instead of remediating the problem, it allowed its property to continue such emissions 

by failing to remediate contamination safely. 

102. Defendant’s failures caused materials to be leached or emitted into the ground 

water and surface waters adjacent to their properties and eventually into the Acreage community, 

directly causing the presence of these radioactive contaminants in the Acreage. 

103. Defendant’s failure to properly remediate the campus by first failing to disclose 

the presence of radioactive contaminated and then allowing those contaminants to leave the 

campus and to be sold with fill product caused a release that violates the duty described above.  

104. These breaches caused KEVIN to be significantly exposed to radioactive 

materials in an amount exceeding the levels set by 10 CFR §20.1301. 
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105. As a consequence of the nuclear incident, KEVIN suffered the personal injury of 

a brain tumor. 

106. Defendant’s conduct includes reckless, knowing disregard of the safety of the 

neighboring communities and include acts which were not pursuant to a contract with the 

government of the United States. 

107. Defendant’s reckless conduct as described above and summarized in paragraphs 

82-87 was not in furtherance of any United States government contract or, if in furtherance of 

any such government contract, was counter to the dictates of the contract and occurred prior to 

1988. 

108. The breaches described in this Count and the incorporated paragraphs caused the 

Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP’S damages including but not limited to personal injury, physical 

impairment, economic damages, mental anguish, pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, 

diminished earning capacity, loss of earnings, disfigurement caused by his affliction of radiation-

induced illness, functional impairment and large left frontal intra-axial tumor, which damages are 

ongoing and continuing in nature. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP demands judgment for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages, interest, costs of litigation and such other and further relief as the 

Court may deem appropriate.  Plaintiff further demands trial by jury.  

 

COUNT TWO: NEGLIGENCE 

 Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP re-alleges those facts and matters set forth in the 

allegations above as stated in all paragraphs excepting 88-95 and 99-108 and states as follows 

109. In addition to the allegations incorporated in paragraph 123 regarding the 

widespread presence of metals and semi-volatiles in the Acreage, it is noted that the radioactive 

contaminants detailed above create non-radioactive metal end products and were present at the 

PBC Campus alongside the semi-volatiles and metals that have been found in the Acreage. 

110. Defendant owed the surrounding community, including the Plaintiff, the duty to 

exercise at least reasonable care in its efforts to use radioactive, non-radioactive hazardous 
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materials (such as jet fuel) and metals including cadmium, barium, and lead in a safe manner 

commencing with its opening in 1955 continuing at all times thereafter.  

111. Instead, Defendant dumped, burned, piped and disposed of these materials in a 

manner that caused them to contaminate the Acreage. 

112. From 1957 through 2009, and perhaps even until today, Defendant has breached 

its duty of care by allowing the soils and waters of its operations to become contaminated and to 

emanate these hazardous materials and metals beyond the boundaries of its property into 

surrounding areas including the Acreage. 

113. As controller and operator of its facilities and as landowner, Defendant is jointly 

and severally liable together with any prior or subsequent non-innocent landowner of its 

properties as well any other tortfeasor for any damages resulting from these pollutive acts. 

114. The breaches described in this Count and the incorporated paragraphs caused the 

Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP’S damages including but not limited to personal injury, physical 

impairment, economic damages, mental anguish, pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, 

diminished earning capacity, loss of earnings, disfigurement caused by her affliction of radiation-

induced illness, functional impairment and glioblastoma, which damages are ongoing and 

continuing in nature.  

115. These breaches described above and summarized above include intentional acts 

and further, as outlined in paragraphs 82-87, include reckless, knowing disregard of the safety of 

the neighboring communities as evidenced by the fact that in 1964 Defendant acknowledged the 

danger related to these materials, the need to use and dispose of them with paramount caution 

and then for decades failed to use any such caution and purposely buried and otherwise disposed 

of the materials in a manner certain to result in the contamination of the neighboring 

communities and the injurious exposure of the residents of these communities including the 

Plaintiff.   

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP demands judgment for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages, interest, costs of litigation and such other and further relief as the 

Court may deem appropriate.  Plaintiff further demands trial by jury.  
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COUNT THREE: CHAPTER 376 LIABILITY 

 Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP re-alleges those facts and matters set forth in the 

allegations above as stated in all paragraphs excepting 88-95 and 99-108 and states as follows: 

116. Pursuant to F.S. §376.313, Defendant is strictly liable for any and all damages 

emanating from the effluences described in incorporated above to the extent they include 

materials are not defined as either source of by-product materials under 42 USC 2014 or to the 

extent that the release of any such material does not amount to a “public liability claim” arising 

from a “nuclear incident” as defined by same.  

117. The breaches described in this Count and the incorporated paragraphs caused the 

Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP damages including but not limited to personal injury, physical 

impairment, economic damages, mental anguish, pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, 

diminished earning capacity, loss of earnings, disfigurement caused by his affliction of radiation-

induced illness, functional impairment and glioblastoma tumor, which damages are ongoing and 

continuing in nature. 

118. Pursuant to chapter 376, Plaintiff may be awarded costs of litigation (including 

reasonable attorney's and expert fees) if the court determines such an award is in the public 

interest. Plaintiff has retained the undersigned counsel to prosecute this action on her behalf and 

has agreed to pay his counsel a reasonable fee and reimburse them for the costs of the 

prosecution of this case. 

119. These breaches described above and summarized above include intentional acts 

and further, as outlined in paragraphs 82-87, include reckless, knowing disregard of the safety of 

the neighboring communities as evidenced by the fact that in 1964 Defendant acknowledged the 

danger related to these materials, the need to use and dispose of them with paramount caution 

and then for decades failed to use any such caution and purposely buried and otherwise disposed 

of the materials in a manner certain to result in the contamination of the neighboring 

communities and the injurious exposure of the residents of these communities including the 

Plaintiff.   
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff KEVIN TVENSTRUP demands judgment for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages interest, costs of litigation, an award for attorney fees and costs 

pursuant to F.S. §376.313 and further demands trial by jury. 

 

The Plaintiffs further demand trial by jury of all issues so triable.  

Dated March 10, 2016 

/s/ Mara R. P. Hatfield 

MARA RITCHIE PONCY HATFIELD 

Florida Bar No. 37053 

JACK SCAROLA  

Florida Bar No: 169440 

Searcy Denney Scarola Barnhart & Shipley, P.A. 

2139 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard 

West Palm Beach, FL 33409 

Phone: (561) 686-6300 

Fax: (561) 383-9539 

Email: mrh@searcylaw.com; dtm@searcylaw.com; 

_hatfieldteam@searcylaw.com; jsx@searcylaw.com
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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